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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

DALLAS DIVISION 

 

ARASH FARASAT, Individually and On 

Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated, 

 

Plaintiff, 

 

v. 

 

PRIME VALET LLC and JOHN 

JASON WEEKS, individually  

Defendants. 
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§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 

§ 
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 Civil Action No. 3:16-cv-3182 

 

 

 

 Jury Demanded  

 

PLAINTIFF’S ORIGINAL COMPLAINT 

 

 Plaintiff Arash Farasat, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated (“Plaintiff” 

and “Class Members” herein) brings this Fair Labor Standards Act (“FLSA”) suit against the 

above-named Defendants and shows as follows: 

I. NATURE OF SUIT 

1. The FLSA allows employers to pay less than minimum wage to employees who receive 

tips. 29 U.S.C. § 203(m). In doing so, employers may take a “tip credit,” which allows 

employers to include in their calculation of “wages” the amount that an employee receives in 

tips. Id. In order to apply a tip credit toward an employee’s minimum wage, an employer must 

satisfy two conditions: 1) The employer must inform the employee that it will take a tip credit; 

and 2) tipped employees must retain all the tips they receive, except those tips included in a 

tipping pool among employees who customarily and regularly receive tips. Id. 

II. PARTIES 
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2. Plaintiff Arash Farasat is an individual who resides in Dallas County, Texas and was 

employed by Defendants within the meaning of the FLSA within the three year period preceding 

the filing of this Complaint.  He hereby consents to be a party in this action and his consent form 

is attached as “Exhibit A.” 

3. The Plaintiff and Class Members are Defendants’ current and former valet drivers who 

provide(d) Defendants’ valet services to Defendants’ clients and were paid in whole or in part on 

a tipped basis. At all times hereinafter mentioned Plaintiff and Class Members were individual 

employees who were engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce as 

required by 29 U.S.C. §§ 206-207. 

4. Defendant Prime Valet LLC (“Prime Valet”) is a corporation that does business in Texas 

and this District and can be served with process through its registered agent, John Jason Weeks 

at 4144 N Central Expressway, Suite 600, Dallas, Texas 75204 or wherever he may be found. 

5. Defendant John Jason Weeks (“Weeks”) is an individual who may be served with process 

at 4307 McKinney Ave., Apt. 2, Dallas, TX 75205 or wherever he may be found. 

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. This Court has jurisdiction over the claim because Plaintiff has asserted a claim arising 

under federal law under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA).  29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq.  

Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action under 29 U.S.C. § 

216(b) and 28 U.S.C. § 1331. 

7. Venue is proper in the Northern District of Texas because the events forming the basis of 

the suit occurred in this District, and Defendants reside in this District. 

IV. COVERAGE 

8. At all material times, Defendants have acted, directly or indirectly, in the interest of an 

employer or joint employer with respect to Arash Farasat and the Class Members. 
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9. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Defendants have been employers or joint employers 

within the meaning of the Section 3(d) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(d). 

10. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Defendants have been an enterprise within the 

meaning of Section 3(r) of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(r). 

11. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Defendants have been enterprises engaged in 

commerce or in the production of goods for commerce within the meaning of Section 3(s)(1) of 

the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203(s)(1), in that said enterprises have had employees engaged in 

commerce or in the production of goods for commerce, or employees handling, selling, or 

otherwise working on goods or materials that have been moved in or produced for commerce by 

any person and in that said enterprise has had and has an annual gross volume of sales made or 

business done of not less than $500,000 (exclusive of excise taxes at the retail level which are 

separately stated). 

12. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Plaintiff and Class Members were individual 

employees who were engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce as 

required by 29 U.S.C. §§ 206-207. 

V. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

13. Defendant Prime Valet specializes in providing valet services for various businesses and 

individuals throughout the Dallas/Fort Worth Metroplex.  Defendants do over $500,000.00 

dollars per year in business.  In addition, Defendants are engaged in commerce because the valet 

drivers park cars which have moved in or produced for commerce.   

14. Defendant John Jason Weeks is the founder, owner and/or director of Defendant Prime 

Valet.  In this capacity, he was/is responsible for running the day-to-day activities of Prime 

Valet.  He makes decisions about how the company should operate, market, acquire work, hire or 

fire and pay their employees and vendors, and treat their employees.  Weeks oversaw the work 
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performed by Plaintiff and the Class Members; designed, implemented, and enforced the pay 

plan and work schedules at issue in this suit; and, is ultimately responsible for the violations 

pursued in this case.   

15. Plaintiff was employed by Defendants as a valet driver within the three years prior to 

filing this lawsuit. 

16. As a valet driver, Plaintiff was required to perform valet services at various restaurants, 

bars, and other businesses and private locations.  Plaintiff was responsible for parking vehicles 

and retrieving the vehicles for the owners of said vehicles.   

17. Plaintiff was not provided any hourly wage.  Rather than comply with the FLSA, Plaintiff 

was paid wholly in tips.  In so doing, Defendants paid Plaintiff less than minimum wage, as he 

was not even paid the $2.13 tip-credit minimum wage. 

18. Moreover, Defendants required Plaintiff to pay a portion of his tips received each shift to 

the management of Defendants’ companies in violation of requirements for legal tip pools under 

the FLSA.  

19. During the three year period prior to this suit, Defendants have employed individuals as 

valets who performed the same job duties under the same pay provisions as Plaintiff, who were 

not paid minimum wage in accordance with 29 U.S.C. § 206. 

20. Defendants knowingly, willfully, or with reckless disregard carried out their illegal 

pattern or practice of failing to pay minimum wage compensation with respect to Plaintiff and 

the Class Members. 

VI. COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

21. Plaintiff and the Class Members performed the same or similar job duties as one another 

in that they worked as valets for Defendants.   
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22. Plaintiff and Class Members were subjected to the same pay provisions in that they were 

paid in whole or in part through tips.  The Class Members were also required to pay a portion of 

the tips they received to management.   

23.  Defendants violated 29 U.S.C. § 203(m) by not allowing Plaintiff and the Class 

Members’ to keep all tips received during their time working for the Defendants.  Defendants 

consequently violated 29 U.S.C. § 206 in failing to pay Plaintiff and the Class Members the 

federal minimum wage for all hours worked.  Application of this policy or practice does not 

depend on the personal circumstances of the Plaintiff or those joining this lawsuit.  Rather, the 

same policy or practice which resulted in the non-payment of minimum wage to Plaintiff applied 

to all Class Members.  Accordingly, the “Class Members” are properly defined as: 

All Valet Drivers who worked for or are working for Defendants 

who were paid in whole or in part on tips.   

     

24. Defendants knowingly, willfully, or with reckless disregard carried out their illegal 

pattern or practice of forcing valets to share their tips with management and failing to pay valets 

pursuant to a lawful tip credit, commonly denying minimum wage with respect to Plaintiff and 

the Class Members. 

VII. CAUSE OF ACTION:  FAILURE TO PAY WAGES IN  

ACCORDANCE WITH THE FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT 

25. During the relevant period, Defendants have violated and are violating the provisions of 

29 U.S.C. § 203(m) and § 206 by employing employees in an enterprise engaged in commerce or 

in the production of goods for commerce within the meaning of the FLSA as aforesaid, and 

failing to comply with the “tip credit” provisions of this provision and minimum wage 

requirements of the FLSA.  Defendants have acted willfully in failing to pay Plaintiff and the 

Class Members in accordance with the law. 

VIII. RELIEF SOUGHT 
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26. WHEREFORE, cause having been shown, Plaintiff prays for judgment against 

Defendants as follows: 

a. For an Order pursuant to Section 16(b) of the FLSA finding Defendants liable for 

unpaid back wages due to Plaintiff, including the amount of tips he was required to give 

management (and those who may join in the suit) and for liquidated damages equal in amount to 

the unpaid compensation found due to Plaintiff (and those who may join the suit); and 

 b.  For an Order awarding Plaintiff (and those who may join in the suit) the costs of 

this action; 

 c. For an Order awarding Plaintiff (and those who may join in the suit) attorneys 

fees; and 

 d. For and Order awarding Plaintiff (and those who may join in the suit) pre-

judgment and post-judgment interest at the highest rates allowed by law; and 

 e. For an Order granting such other and further relief as may be necessary and 

appropriate. 

   Respectfully submitted, 

 

 

_/s/ J. Forester_______________ 

J. Derek Braziel 

Texas Bar No. 00793380 

 J. Forester 

Texas Bar No. 24087532 

Travis Gasper 

State Bar No. 24096881 

LEE & BRAZIEL, L.L.P. 

1801 N. Lamar St. Suite 325 

Dallas, Texas  75202 

(214) 749-1400 phone 

(214) 749-1010 fax 

www.overtimelawyer.com 

 

 

       ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 
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NOTICE OF CONSENT 
 
 

I hereby consent to become a party plaintiff in the overtime lawsuit in which this consent 

is filed.   

 
 
              
Signature         Date 
 
 
          
Printed Name 
 

DocuSign Envelope ID: C92089AB-18D3-4AB3-B25C-AF698130C859

10/26/2016

Arash Farasat
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